POPULAR PUBLICATIONS, INC.

205 EAST 42% STREET

NEW YORK 17, N.Y.

HENRY STEEGER
PRESIDENT

July 7, 1953

Dr. LeMoyne Snyder
705 American State Bank Bldg.
Lansing 68, Michigan
Dear Dr. Snyder:
Enclosed herewith is your copy of the
October Court of Last Resort depart-
ment for your files.
Sincerely yours,
BYGJLG?%.{D4ULu4L,

Secretary to Mr. Stesger

nd
encl,



TRE CCURT OF LAST RESOBT

by
Erle Stanley Gardner
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As I am writing this I am camped on a beautiful plateau not
too far from the Revada State line. I aw living ia a house
trailer, and my office staff is with me, ocourying six houseé
trailers,

%“hen I am at my ranch in Temecula there are so many business
deals, so many interruptions, so much nerve strain, that at times
vhen I am up against a deadline that simply must be met 1t begomes
necessary for me to "hide out®.

I'm an 0ld house trailer fan from way back. I like the
sonvenience of hcuse trailers, the ability to move when ! want to.
I like to have all o the comforts of home with few of the
ressonsibilities. That's traller life today.

House trallers are more roomy than most people realige.
They're so efficiently arranged one has a luxuriously comfortable
bed, ample locker space, clothes elosets sanable of holding a
oomplete wardrobe, an office equipped with dictating snd trans-
eribing maghines, heasting and cooking stover, sleetrieity, running

vater, and all the conveniences, and yet has liitle or no housework




or drudgery.

I wrote my friend, Art Lernard, varden of the Hevada State
Penitentiary at Carson City, telling him where I was and offering
to barbecus him a steak in case he gould get avay for a weekend.

Last week Art Bernard and his wife, Haomi, dropped in for a
visit.

You readers should get asgquainted with Art Benmard hecause
he has 1ldeas about penclogy that make sense.

Bernard is a two~fisted fighter, a mining man, »rospeater,
cattleman, and a regular outdoor man., He radiates that effieclent
self-relliance whieh charasterizes the men who spend muech of their
lives out in the orpen nlaces vhere they have themselves snd their
ingenuity to rely on and nothing else.

YAll I wvant," Bernard tocld ne, "is for people to tell me
what they want done with priscners. I'll find scme vay of
doing 1t.

"If they wdnt them punished I'1l! try and punish them. If
they want them reformed I'll try and reform them, If they want
them confined I'll try and eonfine then.

“The only thing is that people must realisze that they san't
eat their cake and have it too.

"If you want a man rehsbilitated you can't songentrate on
runighing him. You've got to gongentrate on rshabllitation,

“If I had a free hand I believe I eould nut in a rehabilitation
program that would produce results with all except the most
hardened offenders. It wouldn't eost the taxpayers a acent. I'd

makke the whole program seif-supporting. But I'd have to have some
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field in vwhieh I gould manufseture a product. -- I could build
roads. I coculd operate 2 gravel erusher. I eould consiruect
state bulldings.

"When you punish a =an in prison and then release that man,
hoping he will be assimilated by scalety, you “ave to take certain
things into sonsidaration. When a bugian being is nunished he
beeowes resentful.

oy or&hodox erinihal ovrograz ls a pzoullar combination of
punishment, restraint snd half-hearted attempts at rehadilitation.
These forees are all in eonflict with esah other. They genearate
internal friotion. They lmpalr off alenay.

A man sommits a orinme, Does sogiety want to punish his or
doss 1t want to reform him?

"At present society's i1dea ig that these men should be
isolated, not from sach other hut from sceiety, that they should
be confined, that they should be devrived of wouen as a punishment,

“What 1s the net result?

nSoclety takes all of these men who are wesk, who are depraved,
wvho are viecious, and puts them all together within the narrow gone
fines of a walled bullding. They are ziven no really constructive
work. They are given no opportunity to earn money. They are not
deprived of sex but only of women. Those who are not homosexusl
perverts are exposed to forces that tend to make them such,

"After so long a perlod these men are again released upon
soclety.

"The weak have become vigious, the vigcious have besome case-
hardened. All of them have been exrocsed to influences of rerversion,

to dégenerative processes in this scheme of npunishment,®



Bernard's ldess are highly constructive and could be
produstive of great good. He riuns hig prison on a basls of square-
shooting honesty and itwo-fisted fighting abllity.

Every sc often under previous administrations the prisoners
had rioted. They had smashed the dishes. They had smashed the
tables, broken up the benches, set fire to gnything that would burn,
smashed sl1 >f the state proverty they could zet their hands on,
and then had bsen subdued intc a period of sullen punishment, foll-
owing which they graﬁnally'wont bagk to resume the huasdrum of
orison life.

Bernard had a tip that there was to be a riot one night. This
time they were not only golag to smash tables snd dishes but vere
nlanning to take the big cooking range to pieces and throw the wreek-
age out of the window into the warden's front yard.

His officers told him not to worry about it, that the maln
thing was to keep out of the way until the wsve of breaking, smashing
hysteria had subsdded, to take precautions that the inmates couldn't
grab a guapd, or perhaps the warden himself, =23 hostage.

Bernard had his own ideas on the subject,

Unarmed, unescorted, he walked into the dining hall just as
the rict was scheduled to commence.

"I want to tell you men something," he said. "You are nut
here because you viclated lava. You aren't h-ore because you want to
be here, and you aren't here begcause I want to have you here. You're
here bagsause soclety put you here.

"You don't like the grub. You don't like the conflirement.

You den't like the life. I don't blame you. [ wouldn't like it

if I were in your nlace.




"I understand you're getting ready te riot, Ysu want to
smasgh the dlshes. Y:u want to hreak up the tables, You want to
stage & nrotest by desfroying all of the taxnayers' pronerty vou
can get your hands on, Yon think that will make the taxnrayers
gorry. You ghould know from nast exreriance that it wnn't, but you
fellows don't learn auch from ~ast sxvorience,
“How, then, _'m gzoing to tell you something. The taxpayers
hava furnished these tablas for you to »ut dishes on, and dishes
far you to eat food in. If you want to amash them up 1t¢'s all
right by me, I Just want you to understand one thing -~ 1f you emash
up the dishes and if ysubbresk up these tables and tenches we'll have
the floora left, It's a conorete floor. You can't smash that up.
HAfter you've smashed up the henches and tables and durned
them, after you've thrown the range out of the window, after you've

broken up the dishes, ve'll clean up the =ess., ¥We 11 scrub the

fleor and get 1t just as cleen as we oan make 1t, and if yvou fellows
don't want to eat o”7 the dishes you ean eat off the loor.

"We'll put your food in nlles on the Cloor, or we'll put it
on the dishes -~ whichever you want. Right now you have the dishes.
There's the "loor. If you want to smash the dishes, go ahesd. No
one's going to starve to death. The food will be there. But under
ny administration I'm not going to »sk the taxpayers to dbuy dishes
that you don't want, I you don't want those dishes sm=sh them up.
Go right ghead. It's up to you."

And with that Art Bernard turned and stalked out of the dining
PO,

For a moment there was shocked, ineredulous silence, and then



P

someons started to apnlaud.

Ihat was the kind of talk these men understood and the logle
af the situation was inescapable. The whole dining rosm roared
into an ovation,

That wss that side of the ricture, bHut the other side was
the way Bernard starte: improving the grub. He hired a nrofessional
dietician. He ceasad to give the men what he called “garbage." He
started a rigorously suvervised program of food nurchase so that
the st2ta's dollars went farther, hut at the sare time the srub wes
i=proved,

One of the reascons that [ would like io have you readera get
asquainted at this time with Art Bernard is that Emma Jo Johnson
is in his institution.

Ezma Jo Johnson was convicted of second-degree nurder, We
made a preliminary inveatigation of that case. <There are souse
things about it that are 208t peculiar.

Emma Jo had been living at a sort of motor gourt., B3he changed
her address. She had reason to believe that her former lendlady was
vitholding mail. 35he went down to see about 1%.

There is probably no question but what she went down in a
belligerant, trueulent mooed. In justice to her it 18 to he re-
membered there was a pile of mail thers addressed tc her wvhioh her
former landlady had refused to deliver,

There was a fracas. Ko one seems to know definitely who
started 1it. Some pcoplé say Buma Jo started it. &ome pecple say
the other woman did, Emma Jo says the other woman lunged st her
snd grabbed her by the toroat. Undoubtedly there was some halr-




pulling on both sides.

In the middle of the fracas the nlder woman sudienly slumpred
to the floor.

Had Emma Jo $truck her?

Or was her nollarse dus to a eerebral hemorrhsga srontsneously
induced by the rise of blood pressure in weakened arteries?

Months ago Emma Jeo Jeh:nson appesled to youriﬁourt of Last
Resort. ihe hasgs besn pstiently walting ever sirce.

kight at the moment ! have been too compleiely snoved under
with work (o make a rersonal trip of investigation, but I am asking
Sam Hicks, my ranch menager, to leave tomorrow to go to the State
FPenitentiary at Cerson City and intervievw iimma Jo Johnsen.

Erls Stanley Gardner

by Sawn Hicks

I feal as though I knew all of you readers of Arzosy by this
tine and 1t seems to me that I Rknow you well enough to be on a
visiting status with you.

I've been out on guite a few tripa with Harry Steeger and
&rle Gardner snd I have bezn fortunate enough to he among thosa
present on & few of thesze Court of Laat Resort 4asea. I've seen
and read a great many of your letters 1:n the nast few years and
I've kept close tabs on the nagazine Tor 3o long I'm beginning to
feel like & menmbar of the family.

By ogcupation I'm a cowpunoher, not a writer. I used to

be a hunter and an outfitter up in Wyoming and I've always been
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a lot handler at tracking an elk or roping a steer than =%t running
a typewrlter.

However, 4t was up to me to go up and have a talk with Enma
Jo Johnson, and 1t was sure a wonderful experlienes, I rather 4o ubt
that I ocan get that exrerience down on paper se you folks can ses
it but anyhow 1t's worth taking a setting at.

During the time I've worked for Zrle Gsrdner 1've haen
around a few »risons, It'a sure surprising how much they differ.
Ordirarily a pverson dcesn't thinlt there is mush 4ifferenge in
srisons bhecaus: they are all institutions surrounded dy valls,
with guards on the outside and ‘nmates and bars on the inside,

But sacehow every prisgson has 1ts own indiv-lduality.

This Revada priscon 13 certalnly in a& class by itself., For
one thing they hever have to worry about losing any of their
customers by the ever »opular sethod of g--haring out through a
tunnel -- this entire prissn is bullt »n so0lid roek.

I don't know =nough abhout geology to bagin to tell you in
scientific terms how that roek was formed, but from all aprearances it
vas & prehistoric lake bed that settlad dcwn into a sandstone, It
was soft like mud bzfore it snlidified, and now there is the Asrndest
gollection of tracks in that solid rogk you ever saw in your life.

I sluays liked to consider =ymelf us kind of s trasker and
I sure got 8 kick out of fcollowing these tracks that sre a couple
of million years cld. They ars orabably the aoldest tracks I ever
followed, but I imagine there are a few dudes I've guided on

hunting tdips who would 1ike to argue that point with ne.
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There i3 a set of elechant tracks there that are just as
rlain as they make i Africs, s faow horse tracks, and lots of -ird
tracks all siges and shaves., Th-ore is gnother track right among
these that looks a lot like a =an's track., It's so big 1t kind of
startles you, and your imggination wants you tc balieve that 1t was
made by some -rehistorie glant who came sauntaring down through the
soft mud of that snelent lake Sed. Actually though, I think these
tracks were made by s bear becauss they closely resemble a grigzly's
track made in four or five inches of new snow, Also, on close
insvcetion, I thought I could see an overlap to the tragks like the
hind feot had been plastered down on ton of the front foot traak,
indicating that 1t was an animal that walked on sll fours. Then
ton, the tracks were staggered so much that I doubt if they sculd
have been made by a two-legged giant., Ordinarily a man's traoiks terd
to travel in a pretty atraight line unless, of asourse, he's got
used teo traveling on a ralr of extra wide anowshoes,

Anyhow, regardless of what wade these petrified tracks on the
smooth rook floor of the prison yard, they were sure an interesting
sidelight., I got almost as exeited over them as I do when I see a
fresh grizsly bear traeok up in Wyoming.

in case you're ever around Carson City ther: is a conducted tour
of this part of the prison yard every day at 2100 P.M,, exeent
Sunday.

I waes very much impressed by the individuality of the levada
8tate Penitentiary. It's what I would eall a one-man opriscn. By
this I mean it strdkes me much the same as a one-man horse. Xow

vhen someocne refers to a one-man horse they don't necessarily mean




thset there is anly one man in the world who oan get on that
varticular horse and ride him, what 18 generally meant by that
term 1s that one certain man can handle the horse smocthly and can
get more work cut »of him without gausing a lot of gommotion than
anybody else ¢an. To me, that 1s the way Art Bernard runs the
nrison. I helieve he could z2all every che d»f the prisoners by name.
when he's out waeliing arcund the yard he Instantly recognizss cvery
ran he sees and can chat sasily with any of them sbout whatever it
1s they hanpen to be doing at that particular time, He knows men
and he understands hew to run a »rison, and he ~uts that knowledge
into effect vhere it does the most good for all conesrned.

But you folks want to knov more about Ezma Jo, and that's the
main thing I want o tell you about.

I had never seen a voman in prison before, and seeing Emma Jo
came as kind of a shogk. She's young and atirastive, and serving
time during that portion of her life when the years can really eount
against her., You see a woman sitting there in priszon, with youth
and good looks trickling throuzh her fingers and ruhning down the
rrison drainpipe, and it's snything but »nleasant. It sure gives a
verson something to think about.

Of oourse, if she deserves to be in there, that's a diff-rent
story. But {f she really shouldn’t be in prison snd 4idn't commit
a erime in the rirst plaece in srder to wind up there, then it makes
you want to get busy and do something instead of just thinking adout
it.

I d1dn't have much time to spend with Emma Jo hut she gave me
a firsthand sccount of her story. We'll have to cheecik ur on that

story before we ean pass it on to you folks.
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However, Zuma Jo told me that when she valked into this
nlace to get her nall she wzs rretty sad. HNot unreasonably angry
but just fairly unhap~y. Ohe'd baen ex-ecting some -re:ty important
mail snd had dropped by the place four or five times to see Iif any
of 1t had arrived. Gach time she was %nld there wasn't any mail
there for her, Then somecns who was staying at this same rcoming
house told her there was a whole stack of mail Tor her that had been
piling up ever since Euzma Jo moved out.

“ell, you can't blame Ezma Jo for belng out of sorts over
this kind of a deal, Hall, whether 1t's important or ~ot, moans s
lot to all of us.

Anyhow, acgording to Euma Jo, when she went in this r~lace
the landlady charged out of another room, and she was on the fight,
8he grabbed tS=zma Jo by the throat,

I asked her if she gsould show me just how she was grabbed, so
she had one of the other women take hold of her neek the ssme way she
said the landlady hal. [ had a camera along, with a flashgun on 1%,
and I took her nloture hecsuse thare was something about Pmma Jo's
expression that I thought you folks might like to see.

In that pieture you c¢an probably see the sname thing that I
oould. Sort of a terrified sxpression, but also a look whieh
indicates to me that Emma Jo isn't the type of girl who Intends to
let gnybody walk on her.

Enma Jo says she fought back all right. B8he grabbed a couple

of handfuls of the other woman's hair.
wWe'll be locking into this case a lot more as scon as we

ean get things shaped up so we ¢an =ake a tri» over to Las Vegas,
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In the meantime, Emma Jo is running a little store in the
prison, I tock a pleture of her thers in thes store., 3hes a good-
looking girl, and there 1s just something about her character that
is different froa anything you would ex-sct to find {in a woman in
nrison, She sure is taking it on the okin. Like T said defore, if
she's really guilty of something, then 1t's all right for her to be
there, I guess. Hut if she 1sn't gullty, then she certainly ought
to be out of there,

Erma Jo first wrote to the Court of Last Resort about a year
ago. Marsh Hout® went to Las Vegas snd made a preliaminary in-
vestigs=tion. He looked through the court records and they seemed
to be rretty much in order. !lowever, there were a eouple of questions
Erle Osrdner wanted me to find out sbout so that's the reascn I went
to Carson City to have a talk with her.

I don't know how things sre going to gome out in this case,
but right now vhat ansvers we have look as though Zmma Jo was
innocent.

Anyhow, we'll keep you vosted on vhatever we ocan find out

about this case.

This Court of Laast Resort you readers have started is rapidly
on the way toward bdeing accernted as a national institution.

In the Lefty " wler case thare has heen an exceadingly
important development.

You will remember that we were asked to address the Par
Asscalation of Okliahoma, telling them about the Court of Last
Resort. At the eonglusion of that talk many members of the BRar
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stated that as lawyers they ware interested in the csuse of

Justice and they were going to follow our work with great interest.
S0 1t was reslly no grest surprise to learn that the  tnte

Bar of Dklahoma hsd been watching develovments in this Lefty Fowler

case and to re-eaive a letter signed by three of the ot prominent

attorneys in Oklahoma.

The letter reads:

June 2,19%3
Argosy “agazine
20% East 42nd Street
New York 17, Hew York
Gentlemen:

As you have previously and generously indlcated in your
aolumns, the attorneys of Oxlahoma are intensely intersgted in
the cause of justiee. Even those of us whosze praotice has been
exclusively of a eivil nature, are convinced that ws must inter-
est ourselves in criminal law and partieularly eriminal procedure.
This we must do, if the courts are to fungtiocn properly in the
great asrea of lav enforcement whigh involves not only the nunish-
ment of the guilty hut the nroteation of the innocent.

At our state wide bar meeting in Tulsa, Oklahoma, in December
1952, Erle Stanley Gardner addressed the Oklahoma Bar Association
on the Court of Last Resort and the work you wers doing. A great
majority of the lawyers in attendance, indi-idually assured him
of their interest in this great osuse and of thelyr desire to work
with him.

This wes not an empty assurance, lightly given,

We have atudied your curr-nt afld back issues conserning the
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oase of Lefty “owler and while the rules of our Tar Azsoclation
prevent our Association ss such and afficlally from rerresenting
any particuler individual, there 18, of course, no reascn why
individual members of the Bar esnnot so aet,

We have therefore ocnstituted ourselves a commiftee to in-
vestigate the Powler case ard 1f we conclude justics dictates and
Fowler desires it, we will arpear before the nardor and parcle
board of Oklehoma in order to see that Yowler's elaims of innocenase
are propsrly nresented for consideration »y our able and consciene
tious parole board,

Ve understand Fowler hae nelther an attorney nor funds to
employ one. Thersefore, we will, of courss, ap»ear gratuitlously and
gonsider it a vrivilege *o make this contribution to the cause of
Justice.

Very sineerely,
Heoks Epton
o

oyd FRheam
D.A. Prever

This is in keeping with the action of bar assoclations else-~
where throughout the natioen., It {s a splendid tribute to the
judicial processes of this gountry.

Lavyers are probably the most misunderstood of all the
professional man, Too few people realize vhat the lavyers of this
sountry are actumrlly doing.

Teo few people know anything at all about the ber assoclations,
those organizations of Tavyvers who meet to dliseuss problems of

Justice, problems that affect vour libartles and my 1liderties.
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I have attended a lot of har association meetings during the
pest year or two since we have started thls Court of Last Resort,
and I @ filled with admiration for the lavyers of this country.
There are some individual blagk sheep who unfortunately et sll the
notoriety and have a devastating effect upon the public relations of
the la-yers as a whole.

The trouble is that the :iruly rervresentative lawyers are too
much in the background. Their code of ethios doesn't pernit them to
advertise. ‘They go about their work quletly, honestly and con-
salentiously.

Let'as look, for instance, at these three lawyers who are
starting san investigation of the Lefty Fowler case eimply d«aause
of the interest of the orsanised bar in the -~ause of Jjustige.

Higks Kpton is President of the Oklahoma State Dar Assoo-
igtion., Not only is he an ocutstandiag attorney, representing some
of the moat prominent people in the state, dbut he finds time to
engage in local civig aetivities. lie is a past-president of the
Chamber of Commerce, the Kotary Club, the ked Cross, the Boy secuts,
a member of the iloard of Trustees of the (klahoma Baptist University,
ind wvas member of a sommittee for the purpeose of prevaring =odel
rules of coriminal rrogedure.

Moreover, Epton has his feet on the ground. he knows the
ways of the common man. lie worked his way through oollege doing
dish wvashing and odé Jjobs.

Floyd L. Rheam alsc worked his way through coliege.

One of the wost interesting anecdotes I know of Floyd iHheam,

showing his general makeup, is that in his student days ihe Job
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whieh supported him was firing s coal furnses. fven in thope days
he was alwvays looking for a more effiecient way of doing things and
soon devised a scheme that would enable him employer to get along
without him and save that exnense.

It 18 charaateristic ¢f Rheam that he promntly reported this
scheme to his emnloyer, who was impressed by 1t, who out ih the
suggested improvement and thereby put xheam ocut of s jeb., Howuver,
the employer weaisc impreased with hear's loyalty and honesty that
plenty of other jobs ware promptly sup;lied.

During one of the most ceritical periods in the nistory of
Tulss, Floyd Rheam was drafted to take over the Jjob of noliae
aommigsioner. iHe 18 a membar of the exeeutive eouncil of the
Oklahoma 3tate HBar Asscaiation, end s delegate to the American Bar
Assoclation.

0« A. Brewer, the third avtorney who has volunteered, is one
of the most vigorous, aggressive attorneys in the State. iHe 1s on
the exeoutive comaittze of the Oklahoma State Ear Assocelation, amd
for aix Years vas distriet attorney of Choaotaw County. He hag had
axtonsiv§ experiense both in the proseaution and defense of nersons
acoused of orime.

Allgdf these men are able to pick en? choose thelr clients.
They nre;ih the highest income braokets, and thelr names are known
not onlyjthrnughout Oklahoua but in legal eircles throughcut the
eauniry'baeauné of their aoctivitles in the Ameriscan Bar Aszsociation.

for any rrivate individual to retain all of these three
attorneys would involve an all but astronomical financlal outlay.

Only & few vary wealthy men would be able tn get such an aggregatlion
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of attorneys %90 look into their cases.

Yet here is lLefty fowler, without a penny te his name, having
these three lawyers volunteer their hels entirely at thelr own
exrense and without any ecomnensation.

we hope that you readers will tauke notice of what the
organized bar in the country is doing, and we know that you will.

You readers who asomprise this Court of Last Resort, and who
ara supvorting it, have gtarted an enormously iwmportant movement
and the lavwyers are taking 1t wup.

ie%'s wvatah for future developrents. I think that that whieh
is going to happen will renew your falth inithls couniry and in
its judiclal institutions, in the esarnestness and integrity of
the organized dar.

I think 1t's going to make you proud of the country of whieh

you are a eitizem,
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ERLE STANLEY GARDNER
Rancho del Palsao
Temecula, Callfornia

August 20th, 1953

Mr . Marshall Houts
Attorney at Law

475 South 90 East Avenue
Tulsa 15, Oklahoma

Dear Marsh:

Thanks a lot for your report on the progress being made
in the Fowler case, and your discussion of my comments about
publicity.

Apparently you folks have given this matter a lot of
conslderation and are famillar with the local situation, which,
after all, 1s determinative.

As you know, I am more concerned with the importance of
the work we are doing in getting bar assoclations interested in
the cause of Jjustice than in the fate of any individual. It 1is,
I think, more important to get bar associations really interested
in this work than to accomplish almost any other result. I am
quite sure the members of the Oklahoma Bar feel the same way,
and T think we should keep that obJjectlve foremost in our minds.

: There 1s, of course, no conflict between this obJective
and that of representing lLefty Fowler because the blggest step
forward in the Fowler case to date has been the interest of the
organized bar.

Tuesday, osam Hicks and I were 1n Las Vegas, Nevada, and
had quite an actlve day. We had an intervliew with Dr. Demman,
which was recorded on a tape recorder, and in which Dr. Demman
admitted that while the injuries he found on the body of Jane
Jones could well have been caused by violence and could have
resulted from a blow, the injurles on the interilor of the skul},
that 1s, the braln clot, etc., could have been the result of
natural causes; that the wound on the head could have been
caused by a fall, and the fall could have been caused by the
hemorrhage. -- In other words, while he testified that the
conditions he found were conditions which could have been the
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result of a blow, it was certainly possible, and perhaps equally
possible, that they were the result of other causes.

He also stated that in his opinion it was possible that
Mrs. Jones could have had a hemorrhage some hours earller in the
day and could have walked around until the excltement incident
to the altercatlon with Emma Jo caused complications and an
increase In the hemorrhage.

After interviewing Dr. Demman we had a recorded interview
with Dr. T. V. Nendick, a physlotherapist,duly licensed to
practice as such.

Dr. Nendick was, of course, very anxlous to keep from
putting himself in the position of having given treatments or
making a diagnosls that would be beyond the activity for which
he 1s licensed. However, he stated that he had treated Jane Jones
from time to time; that he had known her over a perlod of years;
that he refused to treat her for a whille because she was unco-
operative, because she was abusive, aggresslve and generally dis-
agreeable.

A few days before her death he saw her showlng evldence
of distress and offered to treat her again provided she would be
more co-operative.

On the day of her death she came 1in to his office. The
time was probably about three hours prior to the altercatlon
with Emma Jo. She told him that she had "blacked out" the day
before, had fallen over backwards and had remained unconscious
for quite some perlod of time, probably about three hours; that
he had known she blacked out on other occasionsg and had seen her
fall twice.

On the occaslon of her last visit to Dr. Nendick, whille
she was in a steam bath, she again apparently "blacked out", that
her eyes became glassy, her mouth twitching; that Dr. Nendick
hurrledly applled emergency measures, shaking her and finally
getting her so she was once more fully consclous; that she had
no recollection of the fact that he had shaken her, and had
apparently, to that extent, been completely unconscious.

This,in connection with the testlimony of Dr. Demman,would
1ndicate that there was very probably at least the start of a
cerebral hemorrhage prior to the tlme of the altercation; that
the hemorrhage therefore could well have been due to increased
blood pressure due to rage, or any other emotional disturbance.



Mr. Marshall Houts -3- August 20th, 1953

I would 1like very wmuch to have Dr. LeMoyne Snyder appraise
this angle of the case before taking a definite position on 1t,
but I think it stands to reason that we now have a very waterial
fact.

I had gathered from your record that you felt the
companlonshlip between Jack Wengert and Emma Jo was one of the
casual, sexual arrangements, and that wengert had not been as
wrapped up in Emma Jo as she seemed to think. I interviewed
Wengert and found that he 1is apparently very anxious to marry
Emma Jo on her release. On coming back I checked over the records
in which you wade your report and find that I way have wmisinterpreted
your positlion because of the way you mentloned that there was
nothing particularly unusual about the arrangement of Emma Jo
moving in with him.

If you received a different impression from Wengert I would
like to know 1t.

I was working on this case while we were at the Paradise
camp, and there is a possibllity that some of my files are up there.
I am under the impression that you sent me, and sent to all members
of the Court of Last Resort, coples of the transcript of the
testimony of Dr. Demman and Dr. George. I can't find it presently
avalilable, and wish you would send me your copy so I can have the
girls copy it here. (Our records show that we sent you all of our
files in the case when you went to Las Vegas, but it is my
impression that you sent out coples of the transcript after your
visit to Las Vegas.)

I am hoping very much 1ndeed that this thing works out all
right in Oklahoma. I doh't think there is any question but what
it will be one of the biggest boosts that could be glven the
organized bar of that state, and if it works out all right it will
pave the way for a lot of favorable public relations work.

Lots of the best all around,

Yours,

ESG: 1m




PorPULAR PUBLICATIONS, INC,

205 EAST 42% STREET

NEW YORK (7, N.Y.

HENRY STEEGER
PRESIDENT

September 17, 1953

Dr. LeMoyne Snyder
705 American State Bank Bldg.
Lansing 68, Michigan
Dear Dr. Snyder:
Enclosed herewlth 1s your copy of the
December 1953 Court of Last Resort de-
partment for your files.
Sincerely,
W@% Qeare
Secretary
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THE CCURT OF LAST RESORT
b

Erle 3tanley Gardner

The Case of Emma Jo.
The Case of Lefty Fowler.

This is the story of a city that never sleeps. It is the
story of a girl who can't sleep. It is the story of Las Vegas,
lievada, the Jacknot city.

Much has been written about Las Vegas -- some good, some
bad, some that is true, much that is false.

If you're going to fully understand the story of Emma Jo
you will have to unde 'stand something of Las Vegas; and the trouble
with trying to understand Las Vegas is that it is so complicated,
and is growing so fast, words can't seem to catch up with the
subject.

Places that were m:rely high-class motels a few ymars ago
have now grown into sumntuous hotel resorts, with lawns, swimming
nools, roulette vhe-ls, dice tables, bingo, faro, whe>1ls of fortune,
sun decks, bars, crystal chandeliers and an atmosnhere of quiet
luxury.

Places that a few years ago were little more than lunch
counters for transient tourists, erected conveniently near the
high-class motels, have joined with the exnrarding motels,
blossomed into restaurants with the finest, highest-paid chefs,

the most exotic of foods, and now pnay Hollywood and Broadway stars




as much as fifty thousand dollars a week tc aprnear on floor sgshows.

And this growth, of cours , 1s not an 18 lated »henomenon in
itself. It has brought with it all sorts of attendant »nroblems,
including e&n enormous influx of transient population. It 18 now
"smart" o stay in Las Vogas, and planes ars crowded with incoming
touristsof the class that has ~l-niy of money to svend and 1is
anxious to find a plasce to spend it to advantage. All of this
hackground has resulted in all sorts of sharnshooters and confidence
men coming in to ply their various trades. Muscle men and racket-
eers, wno are nlenty tough and who know their way around, dro- into
Las V:ga3 "on vacation" while they are looking for opportunities
to "take over",

All of these things have added enormously to the nolice
problems, without, unfortunately, adding corresnondingly to police
personnel and ilncome.

This, in turn, has given rise to a tyre of nrivhte investig-
ator that isn't very far recmoved from the Hollywood concept of a
private detectiva.

For a long time those who were faml'iar with the private de-
tectiv  in real life would snort and carp at the wild-eved concept
of private detective that a-pcared on the Hollywood screen during
the vogue when Hollywood was featuring private detectives.

Now, in real 1life, Las Vegas has produced a type of private
detective who really and truly has to know his wav around, who has
to be fully capa’le of dealing with the problems that beset his
oclients, and his clients are the w:althy proprietors of these
fabulously expanding establishments, :ho are trying to protect

themselives against a gouge and against muscle-men gangsters on the
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one hand, and protect their patrons against sharpers, slickers,
crooked tipsters and blackmallers o»n the other.

You mix all of thess things together and Las Vegas brcomes
a story writer's narailse.

It 1s more then that. It s a smart, sophisticated city of
gamblling, antertalnment and action., There ars some of the most
beautiful women in the .orld, some of the best floor shows one
can find anywhare in the country, same of the most shapely, tanned,
well-exposed bodias I have seen anywhera outside of Honolulu.

And the underlying kevnote of the ecity is action. Everybody
wants actlon. Yo one is there to settle down and retire. The
people who are there are there for action, They want things to
happer.. They're making things hapner, and things certainly do
har ~en.

That gives you a thurbnail, somewhat inadequate sketch of
Las Vegas, Nevada. LReal ssvate values have, of course, reacted
accordingly.

Fifteen years ago a friend of mine acquired four acres of
land on the highway outside of Las Vegas. iHe prald sevent -five
dollars an acre. A short'time later he sold for a hundred and
Fifty dollars an acrae,doubling his money. Today a syndicate 1s
negotiating for that same property. The price is quoted as fifty
thousand dollars cash, PLUS one percent of the gross of all
money taken in on the property.

You can't call this simnly 2 boom. The word boom 1s utterly
inadequate. It's a bomb, not a bo-mj and if you want to see life

in an explosive state, 1f you want to be where thaere's so much
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action it leaves you dizzy, if you want to see the well-trowned
bodies of beautifu! women who want to live in terms of action but
are bored with the conventional anproach, if you have daring,
originality, are quickly and readily adjJustable and r~an watch
things go by at a mile-a-minute clip without having to hold on

to your hat, by all means go to Las Vegas, Nevada.

And if you should get in trouble in Las V~:gas, any sort of
trouble, by all means go to G. E. (Bud) Bodell at the Nevada
Detective Service. Put yourself in his hands and he'll get vou
out of vour trouhle. -« There are probably others who are Jjust
as g»~d but we happen to know Bud Bodelil hecause of the Exma Jo
case, and I don't think you'll find anyone anywhere who has quite
as colorful a background as Bodell. And when the going gets tough,
as 1t quite frequently does in the life #f a Las Vegas investigator,
Bud won't get frightened. He won't even bat an eyelash, He'll
take it in his stride, and his stride has lots of thrust,

That's all th:ore i3 time to tell ou at the moment about
Las Vegas.

That and, of course, the Nevada background of six-weeks'
residence in order to secure divorce.

That means many, many women come *to Las 7egas to establish
8 six-weeks' reaidence. They're lonely women who are recovering
from a bust-up in their domestic lives. Their nlans simnly call
for six weeks of quiet residence in La:z Vegas, a Nevada divorce,
and then Just waiting, looking for an oprortunity to nick up the
tangled threads of their lives and again try to make something out
of thenm.
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Put women of that type in Las Vegas and something hannens.
They are quite apt to be swept o 'f their feet by the whirl and
the ‘ustle, and once they become infected with the Las 7Vegas
spirit they're apt to do quite a bit of whirling end bustling
themselves. --¥ou don't stay lonely, quiet and isolated in Las
Vegas. A woman may take out her knitting on s railroad train.
Some ¢f them even knit on airplanes, but you don't find anyone
knitting on the front geat of a roller-coaster.

I didn't see anyone kniiting in Las Vegas.

Emma JO was a young woman who came from a good family in the
Midwest. She 1isn't beautiful. She isn't ugly. She has a very
fine, slender-vaisted figure, with lots of curves in the right
places. She is easy on the eyes. You wouldn't pick her =ss a
movie star but you'd be pretty apt to give her a second look
anyvhere,

The outstanding feature of her face is a pair of laughing
eyes, eyes that have honest, friendly laughter in them -- even
now,

Emma Jo had married and the marriage hadn't panned out. She
had lived in Honolulu, and while in Honolulu had become acquainted
with a man who lived in Las Vegas and whose méther (by adoption)
ran & small hotel which catered nuite largely to women who wvere
establishing six-weeks' residences in Nevada preliminary to getting
divorces.

80 it was only natural that Emma Jo, surveying the charred
ruins of a burned-out marriage, should decide to go to Las Vegas,

Nevada, and should become a tenant at this hotel.
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But women don't long remain lonely, isolated or detached
in Las V<gas. Emma Jo met Jack, and when she met Jack something
cli~ked.

she had thought that the unsuccessful first marriasge had
finished her forever with the idea of love at first sight, but when
Emma Jo ret Jack she felt an instantansous electric spark, and
Jack felt the same way about Emma Jo.

In order to understand what follows 1t i1s necessary to
keen in mind the background of Las Vegas.

Emma Jo was, for certain reasons which tave no place here,
dissatisiied with the little hotel wh-re she had a room. She
was looking for a place to which to move, but those vlaces aren't
too sasily found in a hoom aitv like Las Vegas, and, in the
meantimo, the whirl and the glitter, the rapidity of action, the
swift tempo of life that 1s the background of Las Vsgas, had got
into Exma Jo's blond.

Jack proposed marriage and was accepted. Just as soon as
Emma Jo's divorce was out of the way they were to be married.

And so, against the backgronnd of {as Vegas life, it was not
surnrising that Emma Jo and Jack decided they'd throw conventions
to the wind and that Emma Jo woﬁld move In wit: Jack while she
waited cut the short remaining period necessary to get her divorce.

But Emma Jo'3 ianvyer adv sed very strongly against any official

change of addr;sé. Those things are sometimes hard to explain to
a skeptical judge who 1s'carefu11y inquiring into the evidence
concerning residence to find out whether there has been any fraud
practiced on the cou-t.

In fact, it i3 an o en secret that there are places in Las

Vegas where a person can live for four or five days and have a
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witness a near with a reglster showing that the four or five-days'
residence was actually a dix-weeks' residence -- resulting in a
whirlwind type of divores that is fully in keeving with the
whirlwind pace of life in Las Vegas.

S50 Emma Jo's mail continued to go to the old address.

The woman who ran the nlace, Jane Jones, was something of a
character. She was no longer young. She was irascible. 8he was
not in good h alth. &he had arterial sclerosis, and it is quite
probable that Emma Jo's moving out had left some rather bitter
feelings on both sides.

But Emma Jo's mail continued to be sent to Jane Jones' hotel.

Emma Jo's mail was impnortant to her. she was keeping in toueh
with her parents and friends. She was receiving some money in the
mall, and she felt she had reason to believe all of hermail was not
being forwarded.

she rang up Jans two or three times, explaining that she felt
there must be mail there for her, and, according to Emma Jo, was
assured that there was no mail.

Then came the afternoon when Emma JOo met one ofthe women
who was staying at the little hotel, and who had bean staying there
vhen Erma Jo was there. According to Emma Jo, the woman said, “"Why
don't you ever come around and get your msail? Gosh, there's a big
nile of it there waiting for you."

That did 1&.

Emma Jo hunted up Jack. sShe was fenling nretty blue. They
had a fsw drinks together. They were joined by another coupnle.

There were a few more drinks, and Exma Jo decided she wasg going




-8 -

down to ger her mail and that was all there was to it.

She rang up Jane Jones and told her she was coming down and
she wanted her mall.

what happened after that is in sharp conflict.

Accordlng to one version, Emma Jo, acecomnanied by her friends,
went down to get her mail. Jane Jones, irascible, belligerent,
grabbed her and started to throw her out. There was a hair-
pulling match, in the midst of which Jane Jones suddenly sank to
the floor.

The other version is that Emma Jo went in and siid, "I am
going to kill you. I have a gun in my purse," and that thereunon
Jane Jones got up and walked toward Emma JO and Emma Jo grabbed her.

The Jjury accented that second version.

It is a version that was authenticated by some witnesses, dut
there are, of course, things about it that simply don't make sense.
In the first vlace, Emma Jo had gone down there for her meil. That
was the dominant thought in her mind. If she had had an oprortunity
to say anything after she entered the nlace and before being grabbed
by Jane Jones, she would certainly have said, "I've come for my
mall." She wouldn't have said, "I'm going to kill you. I have a
gun in my purse." She didn't have any gun in her »urse, and why
she should have said anything like that is a question that was never
answersed., Withesses said that she said it and that was that.

Moreover, if Emma Jo had said, "I have a gun in my purse, and
I'm going to kill you," it's highly unlikely that Jane Jones would
have got up and walked toward Erma Jo, which is what the witnesses

for the prosecution say hanpened.
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If vou tell & person you have a gun in your nurse and are
going to kill her, she may run, she may sit still, she may try
to telephone the police, she may try to reach for some weapon
of her own, but it is hardly nossible that she would get up anmd
valk towvard you.

And if she does g=t up and walk toward you vhen you have just
told her that you have a gun and are going to kill her, it 1is
hardly conceivable that she is moving toward you si:plvy to discuss
the weather or ask you wvhat you think about the international
situation.

Anyhow, there was & hair-pulling match, and Jane Jones sank
back to the floor. '

Some of the witnesses say that Emma Jo picked up a wooden-
handled can opener, the kind that has a thumb screw and which
rotates around the edge of the can to open it; that she repeatedly
hit Jane Jones on the head with this can opensr. Other witnesses
say that Emma Jo's friends, who had accompanied her, also strugk
Jane Jones,

Someone called the poligce.

Jane Jones was taken away in an ambulance. &he had suffered
a cerebral hemorrhage. She was taken to the hospital. She made
good progress for a day or two, then her progress wasn't so good
and she died aprroximately two weeks after being raceived at the
hospital. .

Now comes the significant vart. The police didn't make any
arrests at the time. They went away. Then they returned and took

the various parties down to the police station, and there a charge
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was places against Emma Jo and Jack .of all things) of living
together while unmarried, a violation of the Las ’agas LRooming
Hlouse Ordinance.

It 1s quite apparent that in the minds of the police at that
time there had been no deadly assault. There had been some sort of
a brawl, a disturbing of the peace, and the police, in their own
minds at least, couldn': determine who was resvonsible. They felt
that they had hbeen annoyed, that there had been » brawl, and that
someone should be fined, and rather than try to unscramble the con-
flicting stories, they picked on a s=mi-obsolete ordinance in a
sudden burst of purity which is entirely “oreign to the lihteral
background of Las Vegas. In fact, one would say from even a casual
observation that if that ordinance were strietly enfo;ced Las Vegas
might open up another source of income that would rival the money
receivaed “rom gambling -- if it didn't frighten away sll of the
tourists.

Anyhow, Emma Jo and Jack, having been branded as living together
in violation of an ordinanee, paid their fines and got out, They
codld hardiy continue to live in Lss Vagas in violation of the
ordinance. They weren't going to sanarate, and, under the circum-
stances, they decided that Emma Jo's divorce had better walt until
she c¢o0':1d return and establish another psriocd of residence. A
Judge was hardly apt to give a woman a divorce who had been arrested
and fined for violation of the Las 7cgas Rooming House Ordinance.

S0 Jack and Erma Jo went to Los Angeles.

Then Jane Jones died, and then, rather bsletedly, the p@licag
* placed murder charges agasinst Emma Jo. She was convicted of second-

degree :urder and was sent to N:vada's St-te Penitentiary at Carson
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City.

Jack was comnletely devastated. He returned to Las Vegas,
secured a job, and settled down to walt.

"But "ten years to 1lif:" is a long time to wait.

Emma Jo, in the women's wing of the nrison at Carson City,
settled down to walt. ~nd hers w:s a long perlod of walting. It
is.hard for a woman to see beauty, youth and 1lif- slin»nping through
her fingers while she goes ahout the drab tasks allotted to a
nrisoner in a state vrison. It 13 doubly hard when she 13 in love
and can't gat the man in the case out of her thoughts.

S0 Jack saved up moneyv and went to Bud Bodell.

Bud Bodell started an investigation.

Emma Jo appealed to the Court of Last Resort.

Some ten days ago, Sam Hlicks and I went over to Las Vegas to
look into the situation., We talked with Jack, and Jack referred
us to Bud Bodell. Bud Rodell opened his files to us. He show-:d4 us
vhat he had. -- And he had uncovered some very interesting infor-
mation.

There's one distinetiv~ thing about Las Vegas in the summer-
time -- that's heat.

It's a dry heat. You don't have any great amount of humidity
and therefore it's ~asier to take than hest along the Eastern sea-
board, but, on the other hand, the thermometer cuts capers that
would make a New Yorker fall over with sunstroke Just to look at 1t.
A hundred degrees in the shade is only the starting voint for Las
Vegas in the summer,

At that 1t was relatively cocl the two days Sam and I wera




- 12 -
over there -- only a hundred and seven degrees. -- f course, the
bulldings are all air-conditioned. You only notice the heat when
you are out on the street dashing around -- and 1t's the heat of

pure unadulterated sunshine, That's where you g«t those beautifully
browned bodies. Just a few days in Las Vegas will give you a rich
sun tan that would take wecks to acquire slsevhere. It's like

being popred into an lectric toaster. Only a few minutez and you're
pooped out agasin, brown as a berry. '

But the three hundred odd miles between my ranch and Las Vegas
crcss a narticularly viclious stretch of desert, a desert that
stratches along the south apnroach to Death Valley, a desert where
temperatures up to a hundred and twenty in the shade are rather
usual, a desert where the highway gats so hot you can't nossibly put
your hand on the tires of an automobile after it has been driven
a few miles, even when you're driving at night.

S0 8am and I took the luxurious Union Pacific Streamliner
"The City of Los Apgolos". We slept in air-conditioned comfort.

We arrived in Las Vegas. we noticed occasionally that it wss hot
when we were out on the street, but for the most part we were in

air-conditioned huildings, and the fact that the thermometer was

at a hundred and seven degrees was only a minor statistic.

We caught an early morning train back to San Bernardino, drove
down to the ranch, and started correlating our information.

The telenhone rang.

Bud Bodell had a new lead.

We sighed wearily, packed up our cameras, chartered an airplane,
and the next morning were pnacing up and down on the edge of a rural

alirport waiting for it to get light enough to take off,
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We skimmed up over the high mountasins, looked down on Big Bear
and the resort country, then flew across the desert where, even at
seven thousand feet, the heat turned the interior of the light air-
nlane into a Turkish bath. Tut we were in Las Vagas before eight
o'ciock in the morning. e did a grueling day's work and wers hack
at the ranch before it got dark. 5ix hundred miles of airnlsne
travel, aight hours of investigative work.

Bud Bodell had uncovered a witness who hinted at sinister
developnents back of Emma Jo's conviction. We're going to have
to check the facts before we can be sure about them, and even then
we can't publish them until we have tied up certain things. Other-
wise wa'll be tipping our hand in such a way that Qe won't be able
to get a true pilcture of the facts.

However, one thing we can state.

On that first trip we took a tape recorder and we secured
twvo tape-rec rded interviews establishing certain facts.

Aftef I got back to the ranch I wrote a long le"ter to Dr.

R B. H, Gradwohl in St. Louls.

(Dr. LeMoyne Snyder is at the moment in Eurone and unavailable.)

Then Emma Jo got a break. No sooner had I written this letter,
in facty, after it had been dictated and signed and was on its way to
the post office, the telephone rang. Dr. Graiwohl was on the other
end of the line, He was in Santa 'onica.

I asked him 1f he would come down to the ranch and listen to
some tape recordings and give us the benefit of his medical opinion.

Dr. Gradwohl 1s one of the outstanding figures in the field of
legal medizine. He has been in criminal pathological work for some
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forty years. It i3 due to his efforts that the American Academy

of Forensic Seclences was founded. He was its flrst president.

He heads the police laboratory in 8t. Louls. Lle is, of course, an
exceedingly busy man, but he 1s Iinterested in the cause of jJjustiece.
He knows the work that your Court of Last Regort 1s doing, and he
cheerfully took time ocut to drive down to the ranch so that he could
listen to an hour or so of our tape r«cordings.

Then Dr. Gradwohl reszched startling conclusions and gave us
a tapve-recorded interviewv.

Here again we're golng to haveto wait a 1ittl: while before
disclosling all of the facts because 1t would be unwise at the vresent
moment to tip our hand.

Suffic- 1t to say that Dr. Gradwohl, who 1is an oufstanding,
authoritative figure, is firslv convinced that even on the testimony
given by the witnesses for the prosecution, and without even con-

sidering the points raised by the defense, Emma Jo ia innocent.

Developments in the Lefty Fowler case have assumed scme of
the asnects of a three-ring circus.

We previoualy mentioned that the Oklahoma State Bar had taken
an interest in the work_that you re:ders were doing with the Court
of Last Resort. The State Bar, as such, felt it co:ldn't enter 1into
any individual cas~, but we were assured "off the record" that when-
ever there was any case in whiech you readers ware interested in
the State of Cklahoma there would be avallable some of the best
attorneys in the State to see that the p&rson involved had a "square

deal.™
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So in this Lefty Fowler case, three attornays came forward and
volunteered theilr serviees. ‘ilcks Lnton, the current rresident of
the State Nar Assoclatlion of Oklahomaj Floyd iheam, an outstanding,
influential attornsay; and 0. A. Brewer, c¢onsidered one of the most
resourcaful and adroilt trial attorneys in the State.

No ordinary »arson could se ‘ure the comblned serwvices of these
three men unless that verson happened to be exceedingly affluent
and was willing to srend a very good-sigzed chunk of money.

Lefty Fowler, who 1s absolutely pehniless, a forgotten man in
the Cklahoms 3tate Penitentiary at McAlester, commands the services of
these three men without one cent of outlay, simply because the lawyers
of the 8tate of Oklahoma are determined that justice is going to bhe
done,

As I have frequently sald, there are two classes of people who
have pcor nubhlic relations -- mothers-in-law and attorneys-at-law.
Cartoonists delight in lampooning them, and they become the butt of
all sorts »f jokes and gags. ‘

Mothers-in-law become grandmas after a few years, and grandmas
have excellent public relations -- they act as baby-sitters.

Attorneys-at-law are ant to remain behind the cartoonist's
eight-ball.

Tar too fow people realize the work that 1s being carried on
by the organized dar associatlions of thils countrys work that 1s
thankless, demanding, and at times ~xpensive; work that is directed
solely toward seeing that you and I get better Jjustice, that our
Congtitutional and legislative rights remain unimvaired.

A whole book could be written about these unpulbicized activities
of the har associations, their various committees which unselfishly

devote time to supervising the over-all picture of law-making and
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law enforcement.

liowaver, that hook, if written,.would sell only %o lawyers.
The average reader isn't interested. :is rights are the ones that
are af’ected but the subject 1ls 4dry and therefore unintoresting.

dence the reason for the lawyers having poor npnublic relatinns,
The public simply dcesn't know of the work they do, andisn't
interested in rlnding out.

But Argosy readers can at least take heart from the fact that
these three outstanding afttorneys have s'arted the ball rolling in
Cklahoma on behalf of Lefty Fowler simnly because you readers, and
the force of public opinion that yo. represent, have brought the
case of Lefty Fowler to puhlic attention.

Your own full-time invdstigator, Marshall Hputs, who is also a
menber of the Oklahoma 3ar, 18 down there working on the Fowler case.

Now here ars some rather inter~sting develonmants,

A masterly, compleie petition was filed with the Dilahoma State
Pardon and rFarole Board, setting forth all of the various facts in
the case.

Quite naturally the newspape's selzed upon this as a rajor plece
of news withln the State of Oklahoma. Reporte-s were sent out to
interview the various parties.

As was to have been axnected, the nersons who were instrumental
in the arrest and convictlon of Lefty Fowler insisted that this was a
tempest in a teapo%t, that Fowler was a liar, that his confession was
freely and voluntarily obtained, that Fowler was gullty of rurder.

But the reporters asked questions, and the reporters demanded
answers to certaln speacific questions.

The answers to those questions substantiated certain things that

we had strongly suspected to be facts, things that Fowler had
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insisted all along were facts.

Fowler wzs arrested on a charge of drunkenness. An officer of
the Stoate police was incarooraiad on a trumped-up charge and pe-mitted
to take a flask of whisky into the jail with him. !le was incarcerated
as a cellmate of Lefty Fowler. He was in a position to ply Fowler with
whisky and then pronose to him that a "lawyer" would vay his fine and
get him out if Fowler would drive a certain car to a certain desti-
nation.

Another State officer posed as a lawyer.

Think that over for a moment, folks. It's a crime in most states
for any unauthorizad person to npose as a lawysr. It's certainly a
dangerous practice when a member of a law enforcement agency enters
a prison and talks with a man who 13 incarcerated, and poses as a
lawyer.

But that's what happened in this case. The fake lawyer naid
Fowler's fine and Fowler was taken out so he could drive the car
which ha:i been planted.

That ear, it 18 now established, was a oar with out-of-state
license: plates that was the property of a relative of a nerson in the
prosecutor's office. That car was to he driven over a certain specif-
ied route, with the understanding tht at a certain place on that route
a State trooner was to arrest Fowler on a charge of driving a stolen car.

Why?

why all the cloak and dagger stuff? Why all the gumshoe taatica?

Fowler says that when he was stopred by this State trooner, and
the other man, whom he considered a fellow prisoner but who was act-

ually an undercover detective, yelled "Run", and jumped out and ran.
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Towler didn't run. He stayad tc “ace the éharge of Ariving
a stelen ~ar,

What would have harnened if he had run?

Probably nothing. Put in the back of Fowler's mind wss the
feeling that this elaborzte nlant had some sinister purnose vhich
he couldn't unierstand. “hen he began to think 1% over 1in jsil he
saya ‘hat the thought was in his »wn mind that i1f he had run he
would have been shot.

That, of course, as we see it, 1s ahsurd, but from Fowler's
standpoint it wasn't absurd.

vas that m rely an accldentsl state of mind, or was 1t nerhaps
part of an alaborate nsychological third-degree?

There was gome reason for 1it,

The reason has not as yet been explained.

There are other things which had been brought out as a result
of this petitlion having been filed and the newspaper investigation.

It 1s now quite definitely astablished that the ring which was
subsequently given to Helen Baavers' mother h the authorities as
her daughter's ring, the ring which was identiflied by witne-ses as
having been on the finger of Halen Bzavers the very night of the
murder, was i{dentified by another witness a3z having been in the
nossession of a person, whom we will refer to as 3usmact X, »rior
to the time Hzlen Raavars' hody was d!sg:overed.

Your investigator, “aul Kelly, who, you will reramber, 13 one
of the ex-FBI men, a member of Henry Franklin's committes, who had
volunteered to help the Court of Last Resort in anycf 1ts casas,

uncovered the mysterious witness whom we have referred to for her




own protection only as Yiss Duncan Oklahoma, a woman who 1s very
much in fesr of her 1life at the present time, and who later, when
interviewed by Marshall Houts, said she was an evewitness to the
murder of Helen Beavers. She named Suspect X as having been present
at the time and having at least participated in that murder.

Now then, some of the nersons who were connected with Fowler's
case sneeringly seek to deprecate the ' ork which has been dnne by
your investigators by saying that we have uncov-red nothing that
they didn't know all along.

That's a damning indictment.

They knew these faots. ' ,

But the jury that tried the case didn't know them. The
attorney for Lefty Fowler didn't know them, and Lefty Fowler didn't
know them.

How many peonle think that a Jury would have convicted Lefty
Fowler of murder if it had known that the authorities at that very
moment had in their nossession the ring that Helen Beavers had been
wearing on the night of her murder and which ring had heen taken from
another suspesct who had, in turn, been identified by an eyewitness
as having participated in the murder?

These wers things which, under the circumstances, only the
authorities could have known at that time. If Fowler had known
them, if that evidence had baen brought out before the jury, Fowler's
case would have been tossed out of court without the jurors ever
having to leave the box.

And why did the aufhoritios suddenly liberate this Suspect X
and concensrate on Lefty Fowler?

They have told inquiring newspaper reporters that it was

because Lefty Fowler had "quit his job".
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Now let's get some sense to this thing.

Lefty Fowler has taken a searching lle detector test. Alex
Gragory says that in his oplnion Fowler has no guilty knowledge of
the murder of Helen Beavers.

Some of the persons who wers instrumental in Fowle ' 's conviet-
ion have made sneeringly deprecatory remarks about the Court of Last
Resort, and in par‘icular ahout the fact that the O%lahoma :“ar Assoe-
iation, which 1s seeking to get at the bottom of this thing, has
been"sold a bill of goods",

Here's a proposition, gentlemen.

How about gll of you taking a lie detector test? How about
answering questions concerning the background of the Fowler in-
vestigation, the Fowler arrest, the Fowler trial, the Fowler c¢on-
viction, and the entire background?

Those lle detector tests will be taken under conditions
arranged by the International Soclety for the Detection of Deception,
and by persons selacted by that society.

It's quite easy to make charges about nersons having bean
"sold a bill of goods". It's quite easy to make sneering remarks.

We're not interested in vilification. We're interested in facts.

It 1is not my purpose to charge that there was anything sinister
in what happened in the Fowler case. I think it was & case of
of“ielal geal having gone 3o widely astray that it overstevned the
mark. It is ny firm belief that if anyone was "sold a bill of goods"
some clever individual managed to talk the authorities into dropping
the case against Suspect X and concentrating on Lefty Fowler.

I'd like very much to find out who that person was. I'd like




to find out what sales arguments were used. I'd like to find out
who was really sold a bill of goods in this casae.

+hy not have the persons who are resnonsible for dronping this
suspect, with all of the evidence that existed against him, and
concentrating on Fowler simply because he had ''quit ﬁis job", take
a lie detector test?

How about it, gentlemen?

I think that the dignity of Jjustice in the State of Dklahoma
demands that something be done in this case.

I don't think we can cover the situation any better than to
quote in part from an editorial comment in the Tulsa Tribunet

"We trust the pardon and parcle board will devote a
svecial meeting, as Chalrman Tom "hillins suggested yester-
day, to the 'Lefty' Fowler case. There seem to be several
places to take hold of this subjeet, now that it has been
reopened for a second time by Argosy Magazine's Court of
Last Resort and three prominent Oklahoma lawyers, Including
the presiient of the state bar assocsiation.

"Fowler is a former Duncan policemnn who confessed five
years ago to the murder of a woman employed there as a waitress,
ile was sentenced to life imprisonment. le has since maintained
he was besten and ccnfessed to save further torture. Frla Stanley
Gardner, the author and Court of Last Resort conductor, believes
him and arparently has convinced the lavyvers who are co-onerat-
ing with him in the appeal for a »nardon.

"This would stand as a clash of oninicns between Gardner
and the others and the prosecutor, judge and jury at the trial
if 1t were not for the nresence of a number of other alleged
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"A fourth point can stand & lot of amnlification, though the
elementary facts are ad-itted readily by those who should know
best about them. Fowler was subjected to a story-book detective
exnerience while in jail in Waurika. A pseudo drunk was put in
the cell with him by state crime bureau onerators. A pseudo
lavyer gained their release and then a highway patrolman stovved
them between Waurike and Chickasha and char-ed them with car
theft. Their car hadn't been stolen, hut was loasned the op-
eratives for the dArama. ..ccscvesvsrsscavsesssscsanssssssscane
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"This, we want to hear mora about. If the object was

to arrest Fowler so he couldn't leave the state upon his

release from hls short jaill sentence for drunkenness, why

wasn't he arrested on a new warrant while he was in the

waurika Jail? .l.'..'.‘...'.l..'l'.l"...l..‘tl....c.l"

That editorial contains a lot of meat.

How about a lie detector test for those who are calling Lefty
Fowler an unmitigsated liar?

How about a lie detector test to inquire into the investigative
background in his case?

The line forms on the left, gentlemen.

Let's find out who was "s0ld a dill of goods", and by whom.

Erle Stanley Gardner
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